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This simple stone structure was completed in 1871. It stands in the northwest end of Hawesville
between the steep hillside and the Ohio River. Rumor has it that the building was constructed
by early Italian settlers, many of them coal miners from Pennsylvania. The chief beauty of
the edifice lies in the use of the superb material. Fairly large rectangular blocks of the local
sandstone, of varying width and slightly varying height, are laid without mortar. The edges

of the blocks are razor sharp and defined by a narrow smooth outer band, contrasting to the
stippled or "pecked' texture of the surface. The blocks at the corners have just perceptibly
rougher surfaces, evoking the effect of quoins. The openings are outlined with smooth flat
bands several inches wide. The walls are several feet thick and filled with limestone rubble
between the facings, which are said to have been hewn by a Mr. Bill Snowden.

The front of the building is dominated by the gable defined by a plain, projecting wood cornice
and four pointed-arched openings. Narrower lancets set high in the wall flank the entrance,
which at one time had double doors under the transom in the arch (photo 1). An inscription on

a recessed stone in the middle of the gable gives the name of the church and the date of its
construction. There are three bays of long, narrow windows on both sides of the building. A
small wooden cupola sits astride the front gable on a square platform whose clapboard siding
rises on either side of the gable to form a fanlike pattern. The cubic belfry is open, with delicate
- supports clustered at the corners and a pyramidal roof topped by a large cross. The roof

itself is of handsome red tile, perhaps not original, but a striking feature from a considerable
distance.

The interior has been stripped and vandalized so thoroughly as to convey little sense of its
former character. The stained-glass windows once in this structure were moved to the
present church when it was built in 1959, Without windows and trim, the single room, however,
is surprisingly spacious, with its high open ceiling. The altar was set in a shallow niche,

with the sanctuary platform curving out into the nave.

The location of the railroad just in front of the church in 1898 cut it off physically from the
river. The floodwall, almost as high as the building, was placed both fo the north and the
west of it, in the aftermath of the terrible flood of 1937. This flood and others preceding it
have done a good deal of damage. The church has been vacant and windowless since the
congregation moved to a new structure elsewhere in 1959, abandoning it to the elements and
vandals. The city purchased the building and attempted to use it as a community center for
youth, but without success and it has been virtually without maintenance since: a-sapling -
that took root at the top of the east wall, for instance, has caused much damage both inside
and out. Ne%{erless, in general the walls, if not the floor and roof, are structurally sound.

Recently, local citizens motivated as much by a sense of history as by piety, have sought
to have the building preserved and maintained. Extensive restoration as a historical museum
has been proposed, and a matching grant-in-aid from the National Park Service requested.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Hancock County in the western part of the Commonwealth was formed in 1829, The county
seat, Hawesville, an Ohio River town southwest of Louisville, was the religious center for
Catholic immigrants of this area,isolated except for the once extensive river traffic and
comparable communities in Southern Indiana. Many people who settled in Hawesville and
across the river in Cannelton, Indiana, were coal miners who came from Pemnsylvania. It
also served as the staging grounds for Confederate guerillas during the Civil War, in an area
whose inner conflicts were particularly intense, with the people caught between a major
Confederate thrust from the South and Union industry just across the river. Immaculate Con-
ception Church, although abandoned for over a decade, remains the most impressive structure
in Hawesville constructed of the local limestone that, along with the coal that lies in the
underlying seam, formed the basis of the area's development in the mid-19th century.

In early years the Catholic population in Hawesville--many of them Italian in orgin--was
without any religious guidance most of the year, A priest located many miles away journeyed
to this community two or three times a year. When he arrived the rituals of faith--mass,
confession, and the sacraments of matrimony and baptism--were performed. Before the
completion of the church in 1871, services were held in the homes of the members of the church,

In 1858 a lot was purchased with the intent of a church being built there. The official request
for the construction of the church came from Bishop Spalding of Louisville in 1854, He asked
Father Bede O'Connor of Cannelton to build the church.* The Immaculate Conception Church
was built--probably by members of the congregation themselves, in spite of local legend that
this was one of the last buildings in the area constructed with slave labor--of native stone,
perhaps quarried from Cannelton, Indiana, although the beds lie on both sides of the river. It
was both durable and inexpensive; many other structures in the area, including the Cannelton
Cotton Mill, were constructed of this stone, which has developed with exposure to the air a
handsome golden tone. '

It seems that the Civil War interfered with the construction of the Kentucky building. The
partially-completed church is said to have provided protection from artillery fire in 1864.

The guerillas in Hawesville were intent upon striking the Union industries in Cannelton,
Indiana. "On July 25, 1864, reports of increased guerilla activity led Capt. Morgan to position
his gunboat, the UsS.S. Springfield, and to open fire on Hawesville, Some used the stone
walls of the new Catholic Church as protection against shell burst, others took to mine shafts
in the immediate vicinity. The bombardment was short, producing little physical damage

(continued)
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and no casualties" (p. 36). Construction of the church continued until its dedication
in 1871,

Hawesville did not have a resident priest for 75 years after the church was constructed,
still remaining dependent on neighboring towns to provide priests. The first resident
priest in Hawesville was Father Anthony Higdon. He was appointed in 1946 by Bishop
Cotton of the Owensboro Diocese. Dr. Higdon acquired land on which the grade school
and rectory were to be constructed. A Catholic grade school was constructed on this land.
The Sisters of Loretto staffed the school. ’

The Texas Railroad found its way through Hancock County in 1898, The railroad was built
rather close to the church and because of this the priests were given free rail transportation
for life. The L & N continued this practice when they took over the operations of the

Texas Railroad.

The Hawesville Immaculate Conception Church is an example of the determination of a

small but devout religious group to build and maintain a church. The early people of this
church maintained it without the guidance of a permanent priest, They worked until they

had constructed a building in which to worship. The building was small and simple but
surprisingly monumental, without any striking decoration, except for the traditional stained-
glass windows and the intrinsic beauty of the stone of which it was constructed. The

church building expressed the simple dignity of a people whose religion was the focal point
of their community as well as spiritual life,

*A Catholic Church for the use of the workers in Cannelton had been planned since at

least the promotion of the Indiana Cotton Mill there before 1850. According to Wriston,
however, the present large and splendid Gothic Revival stone St. Michael's Roman
Catholic Church that faces the river overlooking the great factory in Cannelton designed

by Thomas Tefft of Providence, Rhode Island, was not built until 1876, but it must have
been preceded by a frame or--considering the nature of its offshoot in Hawesville--perhaps
a more modest stone house of worship. For more information on Cannelton and the mill,
see the National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form for the Felix Grimes House
in Owensboro, Daviess County, Kentucky, submitted simultaneously.



